ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 	 THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA VIOLATED TIiE PRINCIPLES OF BATSON V. KENTUCKY, 476 
U.S. 79 (1986), WHEN IT STRUCK BLACK JUROR KRISTAL CALDWELL 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING THE STATE OF WEST 

VIRGINIA'S OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF MEDICAL RECORDS 

m. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DAVID WASANYI'S "MOTION 

FOR NEW TRIAL" 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In the February Term, 2016, the grand jurors of Berkeley County indicted David M. 

Wasanyi, Pharm.D. and licensed pharmacist in the State of West Virginia, on ninety-two (92) 

counts. (A.R. 5-58). Mr. Wasanyi is a black man originally from Uganda. Present counsel was 

appointed to represent Mr. Wasanyi on the sixth (6) day of June, 2016. On the twenty-seventh 

(27) day of July, 2016, Mr. Wasanyi attempted to waive his right to a jury trial pursuant to Rule 

23(a) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure. (A.R. 60). 

The Circuit Court denied David Wasanyi' s request and the matter proceeded to a jury trial. 

During jury selection, the State of West Virginia used one of its two peremptory challenges to 

remove black juror Krista! Caldwell. Mr. Wasanyi objected, but the objection was overruled and 

the State's strike stood. 

During the trial, the State of West Virginia presented various business records from the 

West Virginia Board of Pharmacy and from City Phannacy, the business being run by David 

Wasanyi. (A.R. 84-95). Mr. Wasanyi attempted to introduce records presented by customers Tina 

Osborne (now Hernandez) and hnogene Abshear that he relied upon in deciding whether to fill 

prescriptions presented by these customers, (A.R 103-109), but the Circuit Court only allowed 

one record ofTina Osborne to be admitted. (A.R 103-104). The Circuit Court sustained objections 
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to the remainder of the medical records relied upon by David Wasanyi and denied their admission 

into evidence. 

On the sixth (6) day of October, 2016, the jury found David Wasanyi guilty of the 

following: 

Count Fifty-Seven: Guilty of Delivery of Oxycodone, 

Count Fifty-Eight: Guilty of Delivery ofMethadone, 

Count Fifty-Nine: Guilty ofDelivery ofAlprazolam, 

Count Sixty: Guilty of Delivery of Oxycodone, 

Count Sixty-One: Guilty ofDelivery ofMethadone, 

Count Sixty-Two: Guilty ofDelivery ofAlprazolam, 

Count Sixty-Three: Guilty ofDelivery of Oxycodone, 

Count Sixty-Four: Guilty ofDelivery of Methadone, 

Count Sixty-Five: Guilty ofDelivery ofAlprazolam, 

Count Seventy-Eight: Guilty ofDelivery of Oxycodone, 

Count Seventy-Nine: Guilty of Delivery ofAlprazolam, 

Count Eighty: Guilty of Delivery ofOxycodone, 

Count Eighty-One: Guilty of Delivery of Alprazolam. (A.R. 110-112). 

On the seventh (7) day ofOctober, 2016, David Wasanyi filed his "Motion for New Trial." 

(A.R. 113-114). On the twentieth (20) day of October, 2016, the State of West Virginia filed its 

"State's Response to Defendant's Motion for New Trial." (A.R. 115-118). On the fifteenth (15) 

day of November, 2016, the Circuit Court entered its "Order Denying Motion for New Trial." 

(A.R. 119-121). 
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On the twenty-eighth (28) day of November, 2016, David Wasanyi appeared for 

sentencing. The Circuit Court sentenced Mr. Wasanyi to five (5) to seventy-five (75) years in the 

penitentiary, which shall run consecutive to Mr. Wasanyi's sentence in Case No. 15-F-17. (A.R. 

124). This appeal followed. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This case presented complex issues of pharmacy and pharmacology, issues which should 

have been considered solely by the Circuit Court without a jury. Unfortunately, David Wasanyi' s 

requests for a bench trial and for a new trial without a jury were denied. In addition, the Circuit 

Court allowed the State ofWest Virginia to remove one ofonly two black jurors, Kristal Caldwell, 

the only juror that had personal experience with the pain management issues presented in this case. 

Furthermore, the Circuit Court denied Mr. Wasanyi's requests to admit documents he relied upon 

in filling prescriptions presented by the two patients at issue in this case. Mr. Wasanyi's 

convictions should be vacated and this matter should be remanded for a new trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is necessary in this case because whether the Circuit Court can refuse a 

request for a bench trial is an issue offrrst impression under Rev. R.A.P. 20(a)(1). Furthennore, 

none of the factors described in Rev. R.A.P. 18(a) are present in this case. Therefore, oral 

argument is appropriate under Rev. R.A.P. 20. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. 	 TIlE STATE OF WESTVIRGINIA VIOLATED THE PRINCIPLES OF BATSON V. KENTUCKY, 

476 U.S. 79 (1986), WHEN IT STRUCK BLACK JUROR KrusTAL CALDWELL 

"It is a violation of the Equal Protection Clause ofthe Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution for a member of a cognizable racial group to be tried on criminal charges by a jury 

from which members of his race have been purposely excluded." Syi. pt. 1, State v. Marrs, 379 

S.E.2d 497 (W.Va. 1989). "As in any equal protection case, the 'burden is, of course: on the 

defendant who alleges discriminatory selection ofthe venire 'to prove the existence ofpurposeful 

discrimination.'" Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79,93 (1986) (quoting Whitus v. Georgia, 385 U.S. 

545, 550 (1967». 

[AJ defendant may establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination in 
selection of the petit jury solely on evidence concerning the prosecutor's exercise 
of peremptory challenges at the defendant's trial. To establish such a case, the 
defendant must fIrst show that he is a member of a cognizable racial group, ... , 
and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the 
venire members of the defendant's race .... Once the defendant makes a prima 
facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to come forward with a neutral 
explanation for challenging black jurors .... The trial court then will have the duty 
to detennine if the defendant has established purposeful discrimination. 

Id. at 96-98. 

IS]triking even a single black juror for racial reasons violates equal protection, even 
though other black jurors remain on the panel. ... The focus of the trial court's 
analysis should be on whether the State's reason for a challenged strike is 
pretextual, and not on the overall composition ofthe jury. 

State v. Rahman, 483 S.E.2d 273, 285 (W.Va. 1996). "[W]hen a juror has an articulated 

nonprejudical experience or background that is central to charges against a defendant, I believe the 

full meaning of 'jury of one's peers' is manifested." Id. at 288 (Cleckley, J., concurring). 
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A. Standard of Review. 

"We review jury selection under Batson v. Kentucky . .. de novo, but we review underlying 

factual findings for clear error. We review the trial court's ultimate dlsposition for abuse of 

discretion." SyI. pt. 7, State v. Boyd, 796 S.E.2d 207 (W.Va. 2017). 

B. 	David Wasanyi is a member of a cognizable racial group: he is a black man 
originally from Uganda. 

During voir dire, the jury was informed ofthe following by the Circuit Court: 

"Mr. Wasanyi is originally from Uganda" 

"Mr. Wasanyi speaks English with a Ugandan accent." 

"Mr. Wasanyi is a minority person. He's an African American. A black man." and 

''Mr. Wasanyi operated a minority owned business." (A.R. 248-249). 

c. 	The State of West Virginia used one of its peremptory challenges to remove 
Kristal Caldwell, a black juror and member ofDavid Wasanyi's race. 

After receiving the State of West Virginia's peremptory challenges, David Wasanyi made 

the following objection: 

the state has moved to exclude juror number one, Kristal Caldwell. And we'd just 
like to object based upon the grounds that she is a person of color. We only have 
one other juror who is a person ofcolor remaining ifshe's removed. And, ofcourse, 
Mr. Wasanyi himself is a person of color. Also, she's one of"the only people on the 
jury that really has experience with the issues that we're dealing with in the case. 
So maybe the state has good reason for seeking her removal. Of course, she has 
issues with medical and all these kind oftbings, but that is exactly what this case is 
about. People ofcolor with medical issues. So we just ask that the Court order that 
the State cannot remove her. 

(A.R. 378-379). 

D. 	The State of West Virginia's strike denied David Wasanyi equal protection 
and a jury of his peers. 

In response to David Wasanyi' s objection, the State ofWest Virginia stated the following: 
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Ms. Caldwell presented with various health issues today. That is the state's 
concern. She's going to be - - she's got two appointments for dialysis this week. 
She told us that an hour and a half would be long stretches for her; and it appears 
that you know, she was having some physical discomfort being in the courtroom 
here this morning. And so for those reasons, we thought it would be best to strike 
Ms. Caldwell for her personal comfort and to avoid a potential distraction or 
disruption of the trial and delay the trial. 

CAR. 379). Counsel concedes that Ms. Caldwell was suffering from various health issues that 

may have made it difficult for her to sit through the entire trial and that the State offered a non

pretextual reason for removing her, which the Circuit Court ultimately allowed. However, David 

Wasanyi urges this Honorable Court to apply the wisdom of Justice Cleckley'S concurrence in 

Rahman to find that the State's strike denied Mr. Wasanyi the equal protection of the laws and a 

jury of his peers in that the State removed the only juror who was a minority, that had chronic 

health problems, and that had experience with the prescription drugs at issue in the case. In other 

words, the State's challenge removed one of only two minorities, it removed the only juror who 

had personal knowledge ofmedical issues like those of the customers, and the only juror with the 

experience ofobtaining controlled substances on a regular basis to treat chronic pain. 

Kristal Caldwell informed the Circuit Court of the following during general voir dire: 


She had dialysis scheduled on the first and third days that the trial was scheduled at 4:30 


p.m. (A.R. 218). That sitting for longer than an hour and a half makes her legs swell. Ibid. That 

she discharged from the hospital on Saturday. (AR. 220). That she takes medicine for her pain. 

(A.R. 220-221). 

Ms. Caldwell also informed the Circuit Court that she served as a juror on a stabbing case 

in Michigan and the jury convicted the defendant. (A.R. 235-236). She informed the Court that 

she had no preconceived notions about how this case should go and that she could serve fairly and 

dispassionately. CAR. 236-237). 
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Then Ms. Caldwell informed the Circuit Court that she had been charged with a criminal 

offense or serious traffic violation and that she had family or friends that had been treated for 

severe pain with a prescription for oxycodone. (A.R. 237-238). Ms. Caldwell next told the Court 

that she had a chronic pain issue that may cause her to view this case in a different way. CA.R. 

247). 

At the individual voir dire bench conference, Kristal Caldwell was called and disclosed the 

following: 

That she takes both oxycontin and oxycodone because she needs both long acting 

and short acting pain medicine; 


That she has sickle cell anemia, which is a chronic illness; 


That she was in the hospital last week for five full days and had discharge papers 

with her; 


That her son has been on the methadone before for treatment of pain related to 

sickle cell anemia; 


That neither she nor her son had any addiction issues and that these issues would 

not affect her ability to hear the evidence and follow the judge's instructions in this 

case; 


That her husband formerly monitored sex offenders for the Supreme Court; 


That she had police officers in her family; and 


That her husband formerly worked at the Martinsburg Correctional Center. 


(A.R. 252-259). Based upon these answers, Ms. Caldwell stated that she could fairly consider the 

issues based on her own history and family situation. (A.R. 259). She also stated that she could 

serve on the jury if she could go to dialysis. (A.R. 260). 

For these reasons, the State of West Virginia should not have been allowed to use a 

peremptory challenge to strike Kristal Caldwell. 
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n. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING THE STATE OF WEST 

VIRGINIA'S OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF MEDICAL RECORDS 

A. 	Standard of Review. 

"Rulings on the admissibility ofevidence are largely within a trial court's sound discretion 

and should not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion." Syi. pt. 1, State v. 

Pettrey, 549 S.E.2d 323 (W.Va. 2001). 

B. 	 The documents presented by the customers of David Wasanyi should have 
been admitted as evidence of Mr. Wasanyi's state-of-mind or the 
reasonableness of his actions. 

Generally, out-of-court statements made by someone other than the declarant while 
testifying are not admissible unless: 1) the statement is not being offered for the 
truth ofthe matter asserted, but for some other purpose such as motive, intent, state
of-mind, identification or reasonableness of the party's action; 2) the statement is 
not hearsay under the rules; or 3) the statement is hearsay but falls within an 
exception provided for in the rules. 

Id. at SyI. pt. 2. The State of West Virginia's first witness in the case was Corporal Brian Bean. 

Corporal Bean was the investigating officer in the case and provided background information 

about Tina Hernandez, Imogene Abshear, and Dianne Fikes, the three witnesses for the State of 

West Virginia who were responsible for presenting the prescriptions filled by David Wasanyi. 

Through Corporal Bean, the State introduced an electronic intercept of a phone call between 

Anthony Licata and City Pharmacy regarding a patient named Cedric Gilbert: the brother of 

Imogene Abshear. According to Corporal Bean, the phone call was placed on the twenty-eighth 

(28) day of January, 2014, and Mr. Wasanyi was informed by Mr. Licata that Dr. Murtagh "no 

longer works at the pain clinic and any prescriptions with the name Dr. Murtagh are fraudulent." 

(A.R.4l9). 

Tina Hemandez gave testimony that she was from Greensburg, Kentucky, about six 

hundred (600) miles from Martinsburg, West Virginia. Ms. Hernandez met Imogene Abshear at a 
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pain clinic in Georgia. Ms. Abshear directed Ms. Hernandez to see Dianne Lacy, aka Dianne 

Fikes, who provided prescriptions to Ms. Hernandez. Ms. Hernandez presented the prescriptions 

and cash payments to David Wasanyi who filled them. 

Tina Hernandez testified that she had spine disease, nerve damage in her hands, and 

diabetes. She recalled providing David Wasanyi with a MRI dealing with a herniated disk. The 

State of West Virginia objected to this testimony claiming that it was not relevant to the issue of 

whether Mr. Wasanyi delivered controlled substances. Mr. Wasanyi argued that Ms. Hernandez 

was presenting him with documentation that showed that she had a valid medical condition which 

would substantiate Mr. Wasanyi's beliefthat the prescription was valid. 

In considering the issue, the Circuit Court stated 

I suppose we deal with our issues as to what he may have legitimately considered 
in that regard at instruction time, and I am cautious - - I'm a little concerned that 
the jury not be confused.... I mean I guess my concern is that we not get too far 
down the path as to whether she should or shouldn't have had a prescription or was 
really sick. I suppose that could be confusing to the jury because at some point 
we're going to tell them, well, you know, she could be quite ill; but without a valid 
prescription, Mr. - - or Dr. Wasanyi - - I don't know how you want to refer to him 
- - does not possess the legal authority to prescribe Schedule IT substances for her. 

(A.R. 488-489). The State ofWest Virginia did not object to Defendant's Exhibit Two (2), which 

was admitted, but did object to Defendant's Exhibit Three (3). As to Defendant's Exhibit Three 

(3), Mr. Wasanyi argued that "the letter is hearsay; but it's being offered to show that Ms. 

Hernandez has these issues. And she's presenting these letters signed by a doctor to a pharmacist 

who is filling the prescriptions." (A.R. 497). The Court found Mr. Wasanyi had not laid a proper 

foundation that would let the Court find it is what it purports to be. "So as far as that is concerned, 

I don't think that I can admit it, and I'll exclude it. " Ibid. 

Imogene Abshear gave testimony that she was from Lancaster, Kentucky, about ten (10) 

or eleven (11) hours away from Martinsburg, West Virginia, by car. Ms. Abshear testified that 
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she went to a pain clinic in Atlanta, Georgia, because she had cancer surgery, was in pain, and 

could not get pain prescriptions in Kentucky. Ms. Abshear brought her prescriptions to David 

Wasanyi who filled them. 

Imogene Abshear had breast cancer and a mastectomy followed. She also had spinal cord 

problems. Ms. Abshear testified that she provided Defendant's Exhibits Four (4) and Five (5) to 

David Wasanyi detailing her medical conditions. The State of West Virginia objected on the 

ground of relevance. At sidebar, the Circuit Court inquired as to the probative function of the 

records. Mr. Wasanyi argued that the records were provided to him to be "evaluated in determining 

whether or not to fill her prescriptions." CA.R. 537). The Court reasoned "1 understand she's got 

medical conditions which furnishes her basis for desire for these medications. But, you know, 

unless you're contending Dr. Wasanyi has the ability to diagnose and prescribe, aren't we just 

confusing the issue as to the jury?" (A.R. 538). 

The Circuit Court ruled as follows: 

Okay. Well, I mean - - well, I think without a date - - I mean I can't consider that 
they factored into his decision if they came up after the scripts were filled. That's 
just not - - that's not probative of a fact in issue. And, frankly, rm not going to 
entertain a great deal of detail on the diagnostic conditions ofthese patients simply 
because we've gotten into the fact that they have problems, and I'm not going to 
have this jury be confused over what the role of a registered pharmacist is. You 
refer to him as Dr. Wasanyi. I assume he's got the doctorate from some institution. 
But, you mow, doctor in our culture connotes medical doctor which means 
prescriber. And, you mow, I am not going to have - - well, I just think it's 
confusing. It certainly exceeds any probative value these documents may have and, 
therefore, I'll exclude them. 

(A.R. 539). Although it is understandable that the Court did not want the jury confused, it was the 

Court that rejected Mr. Wasanyi's request for a bench trial. The medical records provided by the 

customers to Mr. Wasanyi contained infonnation relevant to Mr. Wasanyi's state-of-mind and the 
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reasonableness of his decision to fill the prescriptions presented. Therefore, the exhibits should 

have been admitted. 

m. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DAVID WASANYI'S 

"MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL" 

On the twenty-seventh (27) day ofJuly, 2016, David Wasanyi filed his "Written Waiver of 

Jury Trial." (A.R. 60). The jury convicted Mr. Wasanyi of thirteen (13) counts of delivery of a 

controlled substance on the sixth (6) day of October, 2016. On the seventh (7) day of October, 

2016, Mr. Wasanyi filed his "Motion for New Trial," again requesting a bench trial. (A.R. 113

114). On the twentieth (20) day of October, 2016, the State of West Virginia filed its "State's 

Response to Defendant's Motion for New Trial" opposing Mr. Wasanyi's request on the ground 

that it was not "required in the interests of justice." (A.R. 115). On the fifteenth (15) day of 

November, 2016, the Circuit Court's "Order Denying Motion for New Trial" was entered. (A.R. 

119-121). 	In its order the Court stated 

[t]hough this case, like many, has its complications, as many do, in the end, the 
question was one of credibility - whether Mr. Wasanyi filled the prescriptions 
knowing they were fraudulent or whether he confirmed their validity as he 
testified. The jury settled this issue. Accordingly, the Defendant's motion for a 
new trial is denied and his objections to the Court's ruling are preserved. 

(A.R. 121). 

A. Standard of Review.

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