IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Respondent, 

v. Appeal No. 17-0020 

DAVID M. WASANYI, 
Petitioner. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, 
STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 

Respondent, the State of West Virginia, by counsel, respectfully responds to Petitioner's 

Brief filed in the above-styled direct appeal. The State asks that this Court affirm the judgment of 

the Circuit Court of Berkeley County. 

I. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 Juror Krista] Caldwell, who was suffering from serious health conditions and had 

multiple, necessary medical procedures scheduled during the course of trial, was struck

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

v. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The State's Peremptory Strike of Kristal Caldwell. a Juror With Substantial 
Medical Issues Having the Potential to Delay or Disrupt the Trial, Was Not the 
Product of Purposeful Discrimination 

Petitioner's con~ention that the State exercised its peremptory strikes in discriminatory 

fashion is meritless because the juror in question had substantial medical issues presenting an 

clear possibility that she would be unable to participate in the trial and deliberations to 

completion without risking her own health or delaying the course of trial. 

This Court reviews jury selection issues raised in connection with Batson v. Kentucky, 

476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 17] 2 (I986), de novo, but reviews underlying factual findings for clear 
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error. SyI. Pt. 7, State v. Boyd, 238 W.Va. 420, 796 S.E.2d 207 (2017). The trial court's ultimate 

disposition is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Id. 

It is well established that a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia 

Constitution may occur if a member of a cognizable racial group is tried on criminal charges by a 

jury from which members of his race have been purposely excluded. See, e.g., Syi. Pt. 1, State v. 

Marrs, 180 W.Va. 693, 379 S.E.2d 497 (1989). Equal protection not only protects the rights of 

the parties to have a jury which has not been invidiously affected during the selection process by 

discrimination, but it also protects the rights of the individual venire members not to be excluded 

from participating in the administration of justice on the basis of race or gender. Syi. Pt. 5, 

Parham v. Horace Mann Ins. Co., 200 W.Va. 609,611,490 S.E.2d 696, 698 (1997). 

Proof of a violation involves a 3-step arialytical framework established in Batson, supra. 

First, there must be a prima facie case of improper discrimination. Second, if a prima facie case 

is shown, the striking party must offer a neutral explanation for making the strike. Third, if a 

neutral explanation is given, the trial court must detennine whether the opponent ofthe strike has 

proved purposeful discrimination. So long as the reasons given in step two are facially valid, the 

explanation for the strike need not be persuasive or plausible. The persuasiveness of the 

explanation does not become relevant until the third step when the trial court determines whether 

the opponent of the strike has carried his burden ofproving purposeful discrimination. SyI. Pt. 1, 

Parham, supra. 

To establish a prima fade case for a violation of equal protection due to racial 

discrimination in the use of peremptory jury challenges by the State, this Court holds that the 

defendant first must show that he is a member of a cognizable racial group, and that the 
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prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the 

defendant's race. Second, the defendant is entitled to rely on the fact that peremptory challenges 

constitute a jury selection practice that may permit 'those to discriminate who are of a mind to 

discriminate.' Finally, the defendant must show that these facts and any other relevant 

circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the veniremen 

from the petit jury on account of their race. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Marrs, supra. 

A defendant's prima facie case for violation of equal protection due to racial 

discrimination in jury selection may be defeated if the State provides non-racial, credible reasons 

for using its peremptory challenges to strike a member ofthe defendant's race from the jury. SyI. 

Pt. 3, State v. Marrs, supra. This Court affords great weight to a trial court's findings as to 

whether a peremptory strike was used to advance racial or sexual discrimination," Syl. Pt. 4, 

Parham, supra. 

In this matter. the State used one of its peremptory strikes to remove Kristal Caldwell 

from the venire. Like Petitioner, Ms, Caldwell was black. The record reflects that Ms. Caldwell 

approached the bench very early in the jury selection process to discuss her medical issues 

privately. Without prompting, Ms. Caldwell advised the Circuit Court that she was scheduled to 

undergo dialysis at 4:30 p.m. on that same day, and also on Thursday later that week. APP at 

218. She related that she had just been discharged from the hospital on the immediately 

preceding Saturday. API> at 220. SJ:1e also volunteered that sitting for longer than one hour and a 

half made her legs swell, and that she might have problems other than such swelling APP at 218

20. Ms. Caldwell stated that she did not feel her condition affected her ability to listen and pay 

attention, but it did induce pain and required her to take medicine. APP at 220-21. 
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During this initial discussion, the assistant prosecutor inquired and stated that "I just 

don't want to impinge upon her health or if we get to a position on Thursday where, you know, 

there's deliberations going on, you know --" APP at 220. The assistant prosecutor further stated: 

I'm just concerned that Ms. Caldwell might not fully understand what she's 
getting into. Just getting out of the hospital and having these two serious medical 
appointments that are coming up this week. I just don't want us to get into a 
situation where we lose a juror this week. She's indicated that she can stay for 
hour and half sessions and get up and move. I hesitate to make the motion to pull 
her at this time right off the bat, but I have concerns. 

APP at 222. During later questioning, it was established that Ms. Caldwell has a chronic pain 

issue, suffers from sickle cell anemia and had been prescribed oxycodone and oxycontin. APP at 

247,253. Her hospitalization during the prior week had lasted for five full days. APP at 253. 

Neither party moved to strike Ms. Caldwell for cause; the Circuit Court did not elect to 

do so, sua sponte. APP at 261. However, the State later struck Ms. Caldwell peremptorily and 

Petitioner duly" preserved an objection. APP at 378. The assistant prosecutor expressed his 

reasoning on the record, as follows: 

Ms. Caldwell presented with various health issues today. That is the State's 
concern. She's going to be - she's got two appointments for dialysis this week. 
She told us that an hour and a half would be long stretches for her; and it appears 
that, you know, she was having some physical discomfort being in the courtroom 
here this morning. And so for those reasons, we thought it would be best to strike 
Ms. Caldwell for her personal comfort and to avoid a potential of distraction or 
disruption of the trial and delay the trial. 

We still have Mr. Wilkins, who is a person of color, who is on the jury. And we 
also had another potential witness - or another potential juror who was struck for 
cause whose name is now escaping me. So she wasn't the only person of color 
that we interviewed to be on the jury here today. But for those reasons, we believe 
that it's a legitimate strike. 

APP at 379-80. The Circuit Court overruled Petitioner's objection, observing that (1) the 

courtroom deputy had twice advised the court about Ms. Caldwel1 nodding off, (2) Ms. Caldwell 

appeared to be in discomfort while just sitting in her chair, (3) she had to be escorted from the 
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courtroom during the strike process due to a bleeding issue, (4) Ms. Caldwell just got out of the 

hospital after a 4-5 day stay, and (5) she does have a legitimate and substantial medical problem. 

APP at 380-81. 

Under the circumstances and in light of her undisputed health issues, that Ms. Caldwell 

even appeared for jury duty appears to be admirable. The Circuit Court would have been justified 

in relieving Ms. Caldwell from jury service for cause, on its own motion. The State's basis for 

striking Ms. Caldwell was credible and reasonable. In this case, the presentation of the State's 

case was complicated by its reliance on three witnesses - Ms. Abshear, Ms. Hernandez and Ms. 

Fikes-Lacy - who travelled a considerable distance to testify. As such, the State's concerns 

regarding the potential for delay, distraction or disruption during the presentation of evidence or 

during jury deliberations were reasonable. There is simply no credible evidence of purposeful 

discrimination on the part of the State. As such, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in 

overruling Petitioner's objection to the State's peremptory strike. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court's Decision to Decline Admission of Defendant's Exhibits 3.4 and 
5 Was Within ItS Discretion in Light of the Lack of Foundation, Limited Probative 
Value and Potential for Confusion Presented by Each 

Petitioner's contention that the Circuit Court erred in declining to admit Defendant's 

Exhibits 3, 4 and 5 does not constitute reversible error. The Circuit Court's decision to refuse the 

offer of these exhibits was reasonable based on the lack of foundation established for their 

admission. 

A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are 

subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard. Syi. Pt. 4, State v. Rodoussakis, 204 

W.Va. 58,511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). 

Petitioner sought to admit several documents that he contends tended to demonstrate that 
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Ms. Abshear and Ms. Hernandez suffered from medical conditions for which prescriptions of 

oxycodone, methadone and alprazolam might be warranted, thus justifying Petitioner's alleged 

belief that their prescriptions were valid. The Circuit Court sustained the State's objections to 

three of these exhibits. 

First, Defendant's Exhibit 3 was a letter dated November 2,2015, purportedly signed by 

Dr. Murtagh with a return address for the Atlanta clinic, stating that Ms. Hernandez had been 

under Dr. Murtagh's care since January 15, 2014, and describing the medications and dosages 

Dr. Murtagh had purportedly prescribed for her. APP at 105. Ms. Hernandez described Exhibit 3 

as "a letter that's supposed to be from the doctor stating what is wrong." APP at 492. However, 

the letter was actually prepared or supplied by Ms. Fikes-Lacy. APP at 496-97. Ms. Hernandez 

further related that she gave this letter to "Bruce," a pharmacist at City Pharmacis Charles 

Town store, in September 2015, long after the charged offenses that concluded with meeting 

Petitioner on the evening of December 26, 2014. APP at 492, 495-96. Upon the State's objection, 

the Circuit Court declined to admit Exhibit 3 for lack of adequate foundation. APP at 497. 

Defendant's Exhibit 4 was a final report on an MRI of Ms. Abshear's cervical spine 

performed in February 2012. APP at 106-07. Defendant's Exhibit 5 was a report on an MRI of 

Ms. Abshear's cervical spine performed in February 2009. APP at 108-09. Ms. Abshear testified 

that she gave the reports to Petitioner, but when asked if she could recall when or why she did so, 

she replied "no, not really." APP at 536. The State objected to these Exhibits as irrelevant. APP 

at 536. The Circuit Court was concerned that there was no evidence regarding the relative timing 

of the charged offenses and Petitioner's receipt of the Exhibits, and felt that the Exhibits had 

limited probative value that was exceeded by their potential for confusing the jury as to the role 
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of phannacist and physician.4 APP at 536-39. Accordingly, the Court declined to admit these 

Exhibits. 

Petitioner made no serious effort to further bolster the foundation of Defendant's Exhibits 

3, 4 or 5 and made no renewed attempt to offer them into evidence after they were initially 

refused. It is apparent from the date on the face of Defendant's Exhibit 3 that it was created after 

the offenses for which Petitioner was charged, and therefore could .not have influenced his 

decision to dispense medications to Ms. Hernandez. Petitioner can cite no evidence of record 

demonstrating that Defendant's Exhibits 4 or 5 were supplied to him by Ms. Abshear before 

those offenses. Moreov~r, that Ms. Abshear and Ms. Hernandez had some medical conditions for 

which medication might be warranted was not in material dispute; the real issue was the quantity 

of controlled substances dispensed' to nOll-resident customers who presented prescriptions 

purportedly written by a physician at an Atlanta clinic after that clinic's manager had informed 

Petitioner that any such prescriptions would be fake.· 

Given the limited foundation offered in support of these Exhibits, the limited probative 

value they offered and the realistic potential for confusion recognized by the Circuit Court, the 

decision to refuse their admission was not an abuse of discretion. Accordingly, this issue does 

not represent reversible error. 

c. 	 The Circuit Court's Denial of Petitioner's Request for New Trial Was Appropriate 
and Within Its Discretion. and Petitioner Was Not Entitled to a Bench Trial As a 
Matter of Right 

Finally, Petitioner's assertion that the Circuit Court erred in' failing to granthim a new 

trial is without merit. This Court has held that a trial judge's decision to award a new trial is not 

4 During the course of trial, Petitioner's counsel commonly pursued a strategy of referring to Petitioner as 
"Dr.Wasanyi." See, e.g., APP at 538, line 13. Petitioner apparently does possess a doctorate degree, but is 
not a physician. 
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subject to appellate review unless the trial judge abuses his or her discretion. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. 

Vance, 207 W.Va. 640,535 S.E.2d 484 (2000). Although the ruling ofa trial court in granting or 

denying a motion for a new trial is entitled to great respect and weight, the trial court's ruling 

will be reversed on appeal when it is clear that the trial court has acted under some 

misapprehension of the law or the evidence. Syi. Pt. 1, State v. Vance, supra. In reviewing 

challenges to the denial of a motion for new trial, this Court applies a two-pronged deferential 

standard of review; the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to 

the existence of reversible error is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and 

underlying factual flndings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions oflaw are 

subject to a de novo review. Syl. Pt. 3, State 11. Vance, supra. 

Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court's error in denying a new trial was predicated on 

its refusal to grant Petitioner's request for a bench trial.s But rather than citing law that 'supports 

his position that he was entitled to a bench trial, Petitioner instead addresses immaterial case law 

pertaining to a criminal.defendant's knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of the right to jury 

trial. Such law is not pertinent when, as here, a waiver of that right is not accepted. 

Rule 23(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that trial shall be 

by jury unless the defendant waives his right to jury trial and both the State and the court 

consent. Here, the Circuit Court did not consent. In denying the request for a bench trial, the 

Circuit Court recognized (among other things) the value of the jury system, the potential concern 

raised by the fact that it had recently presided over another trial in which Petitioner was 

convicted, and considerations of public perception. APP at 130-31. In denying the request for a 

new trial, the Circuit Court incorporated its prior reasoning. APP at 120. 

S In the Circuit Court, Petitioner also argued that he was entitled to a new trial based on evidentiary errors 
discussed in Section V.B above. See, e.g., APP at 119. 
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It appears this Court has not squarely addressed a defendant's right to request a bench 

trial and the constraints, if any, upon a trial court's ability to consent to same. But ~ederal courts 

that have addressed the issue have held that a criminal defendant is not entitled to a bench trial as 

a matter ofright. As the Supreme Court ofthe United States has opined: 

In light of the Constitution's emphasis on jury trial, we find it difficult to 
understand how the petitioner can submit the bald proposition that to compel a 
defendant in a criminal case to undergo a jury trial against his 'will is contrary to 
his right to a fair trial or to due process. A defendant's only constitutional right 
concerning the method of trial is to an impartial trial by jury. We find no 
constitutional impediment to conditioning a waiver of this right on the consent of 
the prosecuting attorney and the trial judge when, if either refuses to consent, the 
result is simply that the defendant is subject to an impartial trial by jury-the very 
thing ·that the Constitution guarantees him. 

Singer v. United States, 380 U.S. 24, 36, 85 S.Ct. 783, 791 (1965). 

The Fifth Circuit has held that it "is basic textbook law" that one does not have a right to 

a non-jury trial unless the trial court so consents. United States v. Johnson, 496 F.2d 1131, 1136 

(5th Crr. 1974). It appears that Federal appellate courts that have addressed the question arein

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